FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/2/2022 3:39 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100896-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 54564-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

COOKE AQUACULTURE PACIFIC, LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES and HILARY FRANZ, the Washington Commissioner of Public Lands,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Cooke Aquaculture Pacific, LLC ("Cooke"), appellant, seeks review as outlined below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Cooke seeks review of the Court of Appeals's
Unpublished Opinion in *Cooke Aquaculture Pac., LLC v.*Washington State Dep't of Nat. Res., 20 Wn. App. 2d 1030
(2021) (hereinafter the "Opinion"). The Opinion was filed by the Court of Appeals on December 14, 2021. Cooke filed a timely motion to reconsider, which was denied on March 31, 2022. A copy of the Unpublished Opinion and the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration are included in Appendixes A and B, respectively.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1) Where the Department of Natural Resources ("DNR") enters into an aquatics lands lease, is the agency's subsequent decision to terminate that lease reviewed under Washington contract law as if DNR were a private party, or do DNR's

- public trust obligations insulate the agency's decision from full judicial review?
- 2) Where a court is tasked with interpreting a lease, must the court take into consideration the history and context of the lease's implementation and negotiation in determining whether a termination decision was proper as it would if DNR were a private party?
- 3) Does substantial evidence support DNR's finding that Cooke was in breach of the lease agreement and that it could be terminated without providing any opportunity to cure?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Lease and the Events Leading to its Termination.

Upon statehood, the State of Washington asserted ownership over the beds and shores of all navigable waters up to the line of ordinary high tide. Const. art. XVII, § 1. The State retains ownership over these "aquatic lands" and DNR, on behalf of the State, manages them for many purposes. RCW 79.105.030, .050. Facilities that interface with Washington's

aquatic lands, be they private docks or international ports, generally require an aquatic lands lease from DNR, which manages thousands of such leases. Ensuring that these leases are enforced in consistent, equitable fashion is critical to Washington's economy and the protection of its natural environment.

This case involves an aquatic lands lease for a net pen fish farm in Port Angeles Harbor (the "Lease"). The farm had operated pursuant to a line of renewed leases since the mid-1980s. REC4494-504. The Lease was most recently renewed in 2015 with an expiration date in 2025. REC2415-55. The 2015 Lease revisions resulted from significant negotiation and built upon a well-established landlord-tenant relationship.

For the first two years of the 2015 Lease, DNR and Cooke enjoyed a productive relationship. In August 2017, a different Cooke fish farm located near Cypress Island in Skagit County suffered mooring and structural failures, which resulted in a major fish escape event. *See generally* REC1653-94. Those

escaped fish became headline news throughout the region and resulted in significant political backlash against Cooke. Following the collapse, DNR undertook a review of Cooke's Port Angeles farm, which is the subject of this litigation. This review included hiring an independent marine engineer, Mott MacDonald, to inspect the facility. REC4195-232. Following on-site investigations on December 4 and 5, 2017, and exhaustive review of other sources of information regarding the farm, DNR's contractors found the site to be safe and in fair condition given its age. REC4225. Despite these findings, DNR terminated the Lease on December 15, 2017, citing to three alleged defaults in the relevant termination letter. REC1756-57. DNR gave Cooke no opportunity to cure the alleged defaults or otherwise disprove them with evidence, even after Cooke immediately pointed to many factual infirmities in DNR's assertions. CP597-98 (citing REC1892-930).

In terminating the Lease, DNR did not invoke its public trust obligations or otherwise determine that net pen

aquaculture was not in the public interest. REC1756-57. It instead sought the thinnest of pretext to terminate the lease, part of an effort by the agency to "bury" Cooke. CP596 (citing REC5405). DNR acted as a landlord in terminating the Lease and was not making the type of public policy decision that warrants administrative deference. DNR's termination letter simply asserted that Cooke defaulted on the Lease and that DNR was contractually permitted to immediately terminate the Lease. REC1756-57. That decision, which DNR took as a landlord, has had major negative impacts on Cooke, including forcing it to shutter the Port Angeles operation. This appeal focuses on whether DNR's contractual termination of the Lease without an opportunity to cure was proper, and more specifically what the role of courts is in adjudicating DNR's decisions under its pre-existing lease agreements.

B. Procedural History of Litigation.

This case was filed in January 2018 to challenge DNR's December 2017 termination of the Lease. The initial action

included three separate claims, the first being an administrative claim under RCW 79.02.030, the second a breach of contract, and the third a breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. Originally filed in Clallam County, the case was transferred to Thurston County.

On April 26, 2019, the Thurston County Superior Court determined that the complaint included administrative law claims (RCW 79.02.030) which were to be heard on an administrative record, and also general civil claims for which discovery was required. To avoid confusion, the Superior Court ordered the complaint severed into two separate cases, and also instructed that the more limited administrative claim be heard before the broader civil claims. CP353-54. On February 7, 2020, the Superior Court conducted an administrative hearing, and on February 28, 2020, it issued an opinion denying Cooke's RCW 79.02.030 administrative claims. CP709-712.

The Superior Court found that the RCW 79.02.030 claim was controlled by *Northwest Alloys, Inc. v. Dep't of Natural*

Resources, and as such DNR's decision to terminate the lease was reviewed under the arbitrary and capricious standard of review. CP710; Northwest Alloys, Inc. v. Dep't of Natural Resources, 10 Wn. App. 2d 169, 447 P.3d 620 (2019), review denied, 194 Wn.2d 1019 (2020) (hereinafter "Northwest Alloys"). Under the Superior Court's view, all of the conclusions in DNR's termination letter were reviewed under the arbitrary and capricious standard, despite the letter (available at REC1756-57) making various legal assertions related to DNR's rights under the Lease. CP710-11.

Cooke timely appealed the Thurston County opinion asserting, among other things, that the Superior Court had misapplied *Northwest Alloys* and should have reviewed the termination decision de novo because DNR's termination letter was not an administrative action, but instead a quasi-judicial action. The December 14, 2021 Court of Appeals's decision agreed with Cooke in part and laid out a different standard of review than the Superior Court had adopted. Specifically, the

Court of Appeals held that DNR's legal interpretation of the lease must be reviewed de novo, but that DNR's decision to terminate the lease was shielded from full legal review by the arbitrary and capricious standard of review. Opinion at 10-11.

Cooke sought reconsideration of the Court of Appeals's decision, and that request was rejected on March 31, 2022. *See* Appendix B. The request for reconsideration focused primarily on the Court of Appeals's failure to apply basic rules of contract interpretation that require it to analyze the context of the dealings between Cooke's predecessors and DNR to understand terms of the lease. The Opinion ignored many facts relevant to the interpretation of the lease terms at issue, including many years of practice which showed the intent and agreement of the parties.

The current appeal only applies to Cooke's RCW 79.02.030 claim, and Cooke's common law contract claims remain active in the Superior Court.

V. ARGUMENT

Discretionary review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4), because the Court of Appeals's opinion conflicts with both Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent, and also involves issues of substantial public interest. The issue of substantial public interest, the appropriate standard of review that applies to DNR's decisions when it makes a decision pursuant to a public lands lease, has become an issue of significant legal debate in Washington in recent years, and its resolution is critical to protecting Washington's economy and also its natural environment.

The Opinion also conflicts with Washington precedents in two meaningful ways. <u>First</u>, the fashion in which the Court of Appeals resolved the appropriate standard of review (the issue of substantial public interest identified above) conflicts with longstanding Washington precedents that state agencies are treated no differently than private parties in contractual disputes. *See State ex rel. Gillette v. Clausen*, 44 Wash. 437,

441, 87 P. 498 (1906); see also Architectural Woods, Inc. v. State, 92 Wn.2d 521, 529, 598 P.2d 1372 (1979) (quoting State ex rel. Gillette); Metro. Park Dist. Of Tacoma v. Dep't of Nat. Res., 85 Wn.2d 821, 827-28, 539 P.2d 854 (1975) ("[W]hen the State undertakes to dispose of public lands, either by lease or sale, it then acts in its proprietary capacity."). While the Opinion does not give deference to DNR's legal interpretation of the Lease, a mistake the Superior Court made, it extends deference to the agency's determination to terminate the lease. What the Opinion fails to recognize is that DNR's decision to terminate the lease, which was based on it completely reversing its prior positions and manner of doing business, was also a quasi-judicial decision requiring de novo review.

Second, Washington precedents are clear that in interpreting any contract, a court must consider the context and history of the relationship. *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 667-69, 801 P.2d 222 (1990). While the Opinion claims to conduct a de novo review of the legal terms of the Lease, the

opinion does not look at the history and relationship of the lease in any meaningful detail. Indeed, Cooke presented evidence that explicitly contradicts the alleged defaults identified by DNR. Cooke also presented evidence showing that the parties clearly intended the Lease to not carry the interpretation that DNR later asserted—for example, DNR argues the Lease required the facilities' anchors to be on the leasehold, but the evidence showed that DNR knew the anchors were not on the leasehold for many years and had approved that practice. By not looking at the context, i.e., DNR's longstanding approval and acquiescence of Cooke's actions, the Court of Appeals erred in strictly applying lease provisions against Cooke in a manner that they were never intended to be applied.

A. In Recent Years, Confusion Has Arisen Over the Proper Standard of Review that Applies to DNR Actions Taken Pursuant to its Lease Agreements.

This is the second time in the past three years that this

Court has been asked to provide guidance on the standard of
review that applies to a DNR leasing decision that is challenged

under RCW 79.02.030. *See Northwest Alloys*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 171-72. In the present case, the Superior Court and Court of Appeals both looked to *Northwest Alloys*, yet applied differing standards of review, with the Superior Court applying the "arbitrary and capricious" standard while the Court of Appeals applied both the "de novo" and "arbitrary and capricious" standards of review to different aspects of the appeal.

The confusion related to the appropriate standard of review in this case was foreseeable following the Court of Appeals's 2019 *Northwest Alloys* decision, which applied the arbitrary and capricious standard of review to DNR's decision to prohibit a lessee from subleasing a DNR-owned property. *Id.* at 184-85. The *Northwest Alloys* court reasoned that the arbitrary and capricious standard applied because the decision to approve a sublease for a new facility was administrative in nature, as opposed to quasi-judicial. *Id.* The Court of Appeals made that decision despite the relevant lease stating that DNR could not unreasonably withhold its consent to a sublease. *Id.* at

185-86. The Court of Appeals reasoned that the decision to withhold consent to a sublease pursuant to the terms of the lease was not a quasi-judicial decision because DNR had an obligation to determine whether the sublease was consistent with public trust responsibilities placed on DNR by the Washington Constitution and relevant statutes. *Id.* at 186. The upshot of this determination was that DNR was given deference in determining whether it properly followed the Lease's subleasing provisions.

In this case, DNR has argued that the holding in *Northwest Alloys* means that the agency's decision to terminate a lease on aquatic lands can only be reviewed under the arbitrary and capricious standard of review. CP635. DNR made this claim despite RCW 79.02.030 explicitly calling for the review to be "de novo before the court," and also longstanding precedents which hold that the government is to be treated no differently than a private party in the context of contractual disputes. *See e.g.*, *State ex rel. Wash. Paving Co. v. Clausen*, 90

Wash. 450, 452, 156 P. 554 (1916); State ex rel. Gillette, 44 Wash. at 441. These long-standing precedents are critical to private businesses that rely on leases from DNR. If DNR is treated differently than a private party, and its lease termination and interpretation decisions are given deference, the agency will be empowered to act as the judge, jury, and executioner when it comes to lease disputes. This type of arrangement will have major negative impacts on the numerous businesses that rely on DNR leases to conduct their businesses. It will also empower DNR to terminate leases of other tenants, like Cooke and Northwest Alloys, who find themselves politically unpopular at a particular moment in time. Resolution of the questions raised in this case and Northwest Alloys is critical to providing assurances to the many businesses that rely on DNR leases. Indeed, this uncertainty undermines the fundamental purpose of contract law—to protect society's reliance interest in the performance of promises. Alejandre v. Bull, 159 Wn.2d

674, 682, 153 P.3d 864 (2007) ("contract law is concerned with society's interest in performance of promises...").

The Opinion affords deference to DNR where none should be given because, as *Northwest Alloys* rightly concluded, the administrative act DNR performs with respect to aquatic leases is the decision to lease aquatic lands or allow subleasing of those lands. After that decision is made, DNR is to be treated by courts as any other private landlord. While the Opinion notes that "whether DNR had the *right* to terminate the lease based on the lease provisions was quasi-judicial," it then goes on to hold that "DNR's decision to terminate the lease was administrative, not quasi-judicial, and thus, the correct standard of review of DNR's termination decision is whether it was arbitrary and capricious." Opinion at 10-11 (emphasis in original). The problem with that reasoning is simple if the statutory analysis performed by *Northwest Alloys* is followed. The Washington State Legislature gave DNR broad discretion to "review and reconsider any of its official acts relating to

state-owned aquatic lands *until such time as a lease, contract, or deed is made, executed, and finally issued,*" but after that lease is issued, DNR can only "recall any lease, contract, or deed issued for the purpose of correcting mistakes or errors, or supplying omissions." RCW 79.105.130 (emphasis added). If DNR had been performing such a recall of the lease to correct mistakes or errors or to supply omissions, the courts below should have given deference to such actions. But DNR did not recall the lease; it terminated the lease under the terms of a contract. Giving deference to that decision by applying the arbitrary and capricious standard was improper.

In essence, the standard that the Court of Appeals has now articulated gives DNR the green light to terminate its leases for any minor infraction, even if that infraction is a mere pretense to remove or avoid a disfavored tenant. Here, DNR weaponized numerous small infractions that were never before enforced to oust a suddenly very unpopular tenant that had become a political lightning rod.

"The cardinal rule with which all interpretation begins is that its purpose is to ascertain the intention of the parties." Berg, 115 Wn.2d at 663 (quoting Corbin, The Interpretation of Words and the Parol Evidence Rule, 50 Cornell L.Quar. 161, 162 (1965)). By giving DNR discretion in determining whether to terminate the contract, regardless of surrounding circumstances, the Court of Appeals has effectively ruled that the intent of the contract is immaterial. Here, the intent of the contract was to allow Cooke to operate a fish farm, and it was doing so in a responsible and safe fashion. DNR decided to divorce itself from that intent and find a way to terminate the lease. By applying administrative deference to this decision, the Court of Appeals essentially has validated DNR's efforts to generate rationales to terminate the contract, which is a violation of the intent of the Lease and a dangerous precedent.

B. The Opinion Narrowly Looks to the Written Terms of the Lease, but Ignores the Context of the Lease as Required by Controlling Precedents.

This Court has adopted the context rule for contract interpretation and has endorsed the commentary to the Second Restatement of Contracts. Berg, 115 Wn.2d at 667-68. While the Opinion attempted to interpret the written terms of the lease, it ignored Cooke's voluminous argument about the past practice of the parties. For example, DNR purported to terminate the lease because the net pens anchors were outside the leasehold, but the evidence showed that DNR knew the anchors were off the leasehold (and physically had to be off the leasehold) for nearly two decades. CP587-90, 93, 603-07; REC1613-14. Despite evidence presented that DNR had never alleged a default for anchor placement before, and that DNR had renewed the Lease with knowledge of the anchors' locations, the Opinion expressly refuses to "disregard the plain language" of the Lease. Opinion at 12. While a court should be hesitant to disregard the language of a lease, where the parties have clearly

acted in a different manner for nearly 20 years, and the text of the lease as interpreted clearly conflicts with the parties' intent, Berg requires a court to enforce the intent and context of the lease, and not simply the language. Berg, 115 Wn.2d at 667. Similarly, the Opinion ignores the context of the other claimed infractions. For example, it claimed a default for disconnected anchors as a violation of maintenance provisions. But the record clearly shows that the anchors were disconnected to facilitate necessary maintenance, not because Cooke was ignoring the facility. CP607-08; REC5225-25, 5300; CP581 (legible version of REC5300). Similarly, the record shows that Cooke had repaired exposed Styrofoam on a floating barge consistent with DNR requirements. CP603 (citing REC1900-07, REC4848, and REC4955). Instead of engaging in analysis of the facts of these claimed defaults, the Court of Appeals simply read the terms of the Lease and ignored more than two decades of conduct between the parties and the administrative record that reflected that conduct. The record shows that Cooke was in compliance with DNR's expectations, and the claimed violations were trumped-up pretenses to expel an unpopular tenant. Had the Opinion reviewed the context in which the Lease was negotiated and implemented, it would have interpreted the Lease consistent with the parties' intent and found that Cooke was in full compliance. By ignoring *Berg* and the context rule, the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the lease and ignored controlling precedents.

C. The Evidence in this Case Demonstrates that Termination of the Lease was Improper.

The Court should review the entire lease termination decision de novo, providing clarity to the relevant standard for a review under RCW 79.02.030. That de novo review should inform the Court's interpretation of the Lease under *Berg*, which requires a court to consider the context of a lease in addition to the plain language. This review will conclusively show that Cooke was not in default of the Lease, but instead the claimed defaults were merely pretenses used to oust an unpopular tenant.

VI. CONCLUSION

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