FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/31/2022 12:16 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100896-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COOKE AQUACULTURE PACIFIC, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES and COMMISSIONER OF PUBLIC LANDS HILARY FRANZ,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

EDWARD D. CALLOW Senior Counsel WSBA No. 30484 PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 664-2854

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

The Court of Appeals did not break from precedent, and contrary to the assertions of Cooke, the only "debate" over the correct standard of review under RCW 79.02.030 appears to come from companies that do not want to be bound by the terms of the aquatic lands leases they sign. Cooke knew that it was required to locate its improvements within the leasehold

boundaries, and to maintain its facility in good order and repair, and in a safe condition. It failed to do so, and such failures, coming within six months of its failure to timely pay rent, justified termination under the unambiguous terms of Section 14 of its lease. These unique facts, coupled with the well-established legal precedent the Court of Appeals applied, do not warrant review under RAP 13.4.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Precedent and Therefore Does Not Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(2)

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with either the precedent of this Court or other appellate precedent. Cooke appealed DNR's decision to terminate its lease under RCW 79.02.030. That statute provides for "de novo" review of DNR's leasing decisions based on the agency's record, and, as discussed below, the Court of Appeals correctly evaluated the lease termination under the standard of review of RCW 79.02.030, and the applicable case law interpreting similar "de novo" review language.

1. The Court of Appeals Applied Long-Standing Precedent in Upholding DNR's Termination of Cooke's Lease

The Court of Appeals correctly applied an arbitrary and capricious standard directly to DNR's record. The appropriate standard of review under RCW 79.02.030 depends upon whether or not the agency is acting in an administrative or a quasi-judicial capacity. *Nw. Alloys*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 184; *see also Floyd v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 44 Wn.2d 560, 570-71, 269 P.2d 563 (1954). If the agency is acting in an administrative capacity, then the standard of review is arbitrary and capricious. *See Francisco v. Bd. of Dirs.*, 85 Wn.2d 575, 578-79, 537 P.2d 789 (1975) (listing factors to determine whether agency action is quasi-judicial).

Although RCW 79.02.030 provides for "de novo" review on the agency record, when courts have examined similar statutes, they have construed such "de novo" review language to mean "arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law." *Household Fin. Corp. v. State*, 40 Wn.2d 451, 454-58, 244 P.2d 260 (1952)

(statute granting court de novo trial on denial of license). Based on constitutional principles of separation of powers, courts will not substitute their own judgment for that of an administrative agency exercising legislative or executive functions, and the Legislature cannot impose non-judicial functions on the court. *Id.* at 455-57 (holding unconstitutional a statute granting the court de novo trial and review over banking supervisor's denial of a business license).

Exercising the discretion the Legislature vested in DNR to determine whether, and under what conditions, the use of state-owned aquatic lands should be authorized is an administrative function, and not a quasi-judicial function. *See Nw. Alloys*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 184-85; *see also Hood Canal Sand & Gravel, LLC v. Goldmark*, 195 Wn. App. 284, 305-08, 381 P.3d 95 (2016) (DNR's issuance of easement was not quasi-judicial for purposes of statutory writ of review).⁵ The

⁵ The Court has recognized this fact for well over a century. See State v. Bd. of State Land Comm'rs, 23 Wash. 700,

Court of Appeals was correct to apply an "arbitrary and capricious" standard under RCW 79.02.030, and this standard was entirely consistent with precedent. *See, e.g., Nw. Alloys*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 184-85; *Malmo v. Case*, 28 Wn.2d 828, 836, 184 P.2d 40 (1947) ("[U]nder the contracts, the Commissioner . . . had the power to grant, or refuse to grant, extensions. His refusal to do so was in entire good faith. He did not act arbitrarily or capriciously.").6

2. Arbitrary and Capricious Is the Correct Standard of Review Under RCW 79.02.030. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That DNR's Actions Administering the Lease Were Not Quasi-Judicial

Cooke asserts that the Court of Appeals improperly applied *Northwest Alloys* to conclude that the correct standard of review for DNR's aquatic lands leasing decisions under

^{705-06, 63} P. 532, 533-34 (1901) ("For the reason that in leasing the [harbor area] in question the board acts only in an administrative or executive capacity, we think the writ in this case was improperly issued, and must be set aside").

⁶ See also Francisco, 85 Wn.2d at 579.

RCW 79.02.030 is arbitrary and capricious. Pet. at 12-13. However, *Northwest Alloys* specifically addressed the standard of review that applies to DNR's aquatic lands leasing decisions under RCW 79.02.030, and Cooke's arguments to the contrary are without merit.

In *Northwest Alloys*, an aquatic lands lessee appealed a DNR decision to deny a request to sublease state-owned aquatic lands for a coal terminal on the Columbia River near Longview. *Nw. Alloys*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 171-74. The *Northwest Alloys* court was required to interpret specific provisions of an aquatic lands lease. *Id.* at 189. Similar to the arguments Cooke makes here, the lessee in *Northwest Alloys* asserted that, when acting under a contract, an agency is performing essentially a judicial function. *Id.* at 185-86. The court rejected these arguments, stating that DNR was acting in an administrative capacity when it made its aquatic lands leasing decisions under the specific provisions of Northwest Alloys' lease. *Id.* at 184-86.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the arbitrary and capricious standard here, and contrary to Cooke's assertions, did not create confusion by applying differing standards. Pet. at 12. As the Court of Appeals notes in its decision, whether DNR had the legal right to terminate the lease is reviewed de novo, but the termination decision itself is reviewed under an arbitrary and capricious standard. Cooke, slip op. at 10-11. In other words, the underlying facts upon which DNR based its decision are reviewed under an arbitrary and capricious standard, but questions of law are reviewed de novo by the court. That courts will often review facts under a deferential standard, while reviewing questions of law de novo, is not a novel concept⁷ and certainly does not warrant this Court's review.

While Cooke continues to argue its view of the record, this does not justify accepting review in this matter. "Agency action is arbitrary and capricious if it is willful, unreasoned, and taken

⁷ See, e.g., Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879-80, 73 P.3d 369 (2003).

without regard to the attending facts or circumstances. Where there is room for two opinions, agency action taken after due consideration is not arbitrary and capricious. . . ." *Cooke*, slip op. at 14 (citing *Nw. Alloys*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 187).

Cooke does not, and indeed cannot, establish that DNR's actions in terminating its lease were arbitrary or capricious.⁸ Instead, Cooke continues to misstate the record, in an attempt to support its Petition.⁹ Despite Cooke's arguments to the contrary,

⁸ Cooke makes the erroneous statement that maintenance at Port Angeles was the reason its anchor chains were disconnected or broken, and that it informed DNR of this prior to the inspection. Pet. at 19. However, the record shows that DNR, prior to its site inspection, asked Cooke to address the issues at its leaseholds. REC-1611. By letter dated December 1, 2017, Cooke noted the conditions at Port Angeles, including anchors located outside the lease area. REC-1618. It was not until after the DNR inspection on December 4-5, 2017 that Cooke, in a letter dated December 28, 2017, stated it was performing maintenance at Port Angeles at the time of the inspection. REC-1895. It is unclear why Cooke did not explain in its December 1, 2017 letter that it was going to be performing maintenance at the time of DNR's inspection, and why it would allow such a dangerous condition with the anchor chains to exist during that timeframe.

⁹ For example, Cooke maintains that DNR's engineering report concluded that its facility was in safe and fair condition

the Court of Appeals correctly determined that DNR's actions were not arbitrary, and were instead "based on facts supported by substantial evidence. . . ." *Cooke*, slip op. at 15. The Court of Appeals' decision was based on applicable precedent, and the unique facts of this case. The Court should deny Cooke's Petition.

B. This Case Does Not Present a Matter of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Cooke asserts that this case implicates the ability of private parties to rely on contracts with the State, and as such, is a matter of substantial public interest. Pet. at 14-15. What Cooke is advocating is a rule that would eviscerate the language of any aquatic lands lease with DNR, allowing private entities to violate with impunity contractual terms designed to prevent damage to

given its age. Pet. at 4. What Mott MacDonald actually found was that the facility had serious deficiencies, including broken and disconnected anchors, and mooring lines wrapped around other lines. *See Cooke*, slip op. at 6 (citing REC- 4218). *See also Cooke*, slip op. at 13, "Cooke ignores other portions of the Mott McDonald report which clearly described that two of the anchor lines were disconnected from their anchors and that one had an open link."

the State's aquatic lands. Simply put, this case is not about ensuring the public's reliance on contracts with the State; it is about not letting one commercial tenant of the State ignore unambiguous contractual language that is there to protect the State's aquatic lands. *See Pope Res. v. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 190 Wn.2d 744, 755, 418 P.3d 90 (2018) (DNR "executes its leasing authority with a view towards the State's duty to protect the public trust."). Cooke's refusal to comply with the terms of its lease is therefore not of such broad-reaching public concern to necessitate the Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. The Context Rule of *Berg* Does Not Allow a Court to Ignore the Specific Words of the Contract

Cooke asserts that the Court of Appeals did not properly consider the context of the lease with DNR. Pet. at 9-11. Relying on *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990), Cooke argues that the Court erred by relying on the plain language of the lease. Pet. at 18-19. However, *Berg* does not stand for the proposition that a court can ignore the explicit

language of a contract under the guise of the context rule, and it was not error for the Court of Appeals to rely on the plain language of the lease in upholding the termination.

Under *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005), it is clear that the context rule of *Berg cannot* be used to vary, contradict, or modify the written words of a contract. Indeed, extrinsic evidence is to "be used 'to determine the meaning of *specific words and terms used*' and not to 'show an intention independent of the instrument' or to 'vary, contradict or modify the written word." *Id.* at 502-03 (emphasis in original).

The *Hearst* court addressed the potential confusion created by *Berg*'s context rule appearing to allow the unrestricted use of extrinsic evidence in contract interpretation. *Id.* (citing *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.,* 137 Wn.2d 683, 693, 974 P.2d 836 (1999)). In clarifying the limits on *Berg*, the court in *Hearst* stated, "when interpreting contracts, the subjective intent of the parties is generally irrelevant if the intent can be determined from the

actual words used. . . . We do not interpret what was intended to be written but what was written." *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 503-04.

As it did before the Court of Appeals, Cooke is once again asking this Court to ignore the explicit language of the lease, and grant review based on an alleged conflict and substantial public interest that simply do not exist. Pet. at 9-10. Cooke has not disputed the underlying conditions at its Port Angeles leasehold that led to DNR terminating its lease. *See* Opening Br. at 42-49. Rather, Cooke continues to offer excuses as to why it should not be bound by the plain terms of the lease that it signed. ¹⁰

Cooke cites to a course of conduct between the parties to essentially try and re-argue waiver based on Cooke's ongoing disregard of various lease requirements, such as its failure to

¹⁰ Cooke appears to assert, without citation to authority, that RCW 79.105.130 somehow limits DNR's enforcement of the termination provisions of a lease, and that DNR should only be entitled to deference if it is recalling a lease under the provisions of that statute. Pet. at 16. This interpretation is contrary to the holding of *Northwest Alloys* and does not recognize DNR's unique role in carrying out the State's public trust obligations.

confine its use of state-owned aquatic lands to the area within its leasehold boundaries. Pet. at 18-19. Importantly, Cooke never assigned error to the superior court's conclusion that "waiver cannot apply to avoid compliance with the Lease provisions with DNR." CP at 710. Regardless, Cooke's ongoing violations of its lease did not require DNR to turn a blind-eye to this conduct. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized this, stating "to the extent Cooke is asking us to disregard the plain language of the lease . . . we decline to do so." *Cooke*, slip op. at 12. This is an accurate statement of the law, and supported by *Hearst*. There is no conflict or substantial public interest justifying review.

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Looked at DNR's Statutory and Constitutional Obligations in Evaluating the Termination

Because DNR has legal responsibilities to consider environmental values in its leasing decisions, 11 the Court of Appeals correctly looked at those responsibilities in determining whether DNR acted properly under the lease. See Cooke,

¹¹ See Pope, 190 Wn.2d at 755.

slip op. at 10 ("DNR clearly holds a unique, constitutionally mandated position vis a vis its management of navigable waters and underlying lands.").

While Cooke argues that the Court of Appeals held DNR to different standards, this is not the case. Pet. at 9. Indeed, DNR "cannot contract itself out of its statutorily mandated duty to exercise discretion in furtherance of the public trust." *Nw. Alloys*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 185-86. Cooke's assertions also ignore one simple fact: the lease itself is explicitly subject to the public trust doctrine under Section 1.1(b). *See* REC-2416 ("This Lease is subject to all . . . rights of the public under the Public Trust Doctrine.").

Metropolitan Park¹² and similar cases cited by Cooke are distinguishable because none of those cases involved DNR carrying out its management discretion in terminating a lease on state-owned aquatic lands. Pet. at 10, 13-14. See Metro. Park,

Metro. Park Dist. of Tacoma v. DNR, 85 Wn.2d 821,
 539 P.2d 854 (1975).

85 Wn.2d at 825-27 (State transfer of use deed was not ultra vires, and equitable estoppel could apply to prevent cancellation of deed); *State ex rel. Gillette v. Clausen*, 44 Wash. 437, 438-43, 87 P. 498 (1906) (Mandamus action against state official to compel issuance of a warrant for payment); *Architectural Woods Inc.*, *v. State*, 92 Wn.2d 521, 529, 598 P.2d 1372 (1979) (Action by contractor's assignee against college to recover funds for construction of furnishings in a dormitory); and *State ex rel. Wash. Paving Co. v. Clausen*, 90 Wash. 450, 451, 156 P. 554 (1916) (Mandamus action for payment of highway construction costs).

DNR, in administering Cooke's lease, terminated the lease based on Cooke's repeated failure to comply with the lease terms. REC-1719-20. These facts are different from the facts of the cases cited by Cooke and do not create any conflict or substantial public interest that would support review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), 13.4(b)(2), or 13.4(b)(4).

V. CONCLUSION

The decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with precedent or involve a matter of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), 13.4(b)(2), or 13.4(b)(4). Accordingly, DNR and Commissioner Franz respectfully request this Court deny the Petition.

///

///

///

///

///

///

This document contains 4,797 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.